IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC11-2083

FILED THOMAS D. HALL DEC 05 2012

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

GARY RICHARD WHITTON

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF WALTON COUNTY, FLORIDA Capital Post Conviction

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

MARK E. OLIVE Fla. Bar No. 0578533 320 W. Jefferson Street Tallahassee, FL 32301 ' (850) 224-0004

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Procedural History

On December 3, 1990, a Walton County grand jury indicted Mr. Whitton for First Degree Murder and Robbery. He was found guilty on August 1, 2002, and on August 3rd the jury recommended a death sentence, which the trial court imposed. This Court affirmed. Whitton v. State, 649 So.2d 861 (Fla. 1994). On March 24, 1997, Mr. Whitton filed his initial incomplete post-conviction motion. An Amended Motion was filed, an evidentiary hearing was conducted, and relief was denied May 31, 2011.

B. The facts

Mr. Maulden, the victim, was an alcoholic who worked offshore. When he returned to shore he would cash his paycheck, check into run down motels, and take cabs to purchase alcohol. He asked cab drivers where to find prostitutes, waved cash around in public while drunk, looking for prostitutes, and hired prostitutes. Just days before he was killed, drunk, in a seedy motel, he had been "rolled" by a transvestite prostitute. Before his death, he was drunk, flashing cash, looking for another hooker. Defense counsel failed to show these and many other available, pertinent, facts about the probable perpetrator(s).

The prosecution was not so inactive. The jury heard the prosecution's contrived story of a vicious, planned, murder of the helpless Maulden by his best friend, Mr. Whitton, desperate for Maulden's cash. Whitton denied it from the start and

1

testified in his own defense.¹ According to an FDLE agent, there was no DNA evidence against Whitton-thus the prosecutor and the Sheriff threatened her not to appear and testify.² So the state's case hinged upon the late-developing testimony of jailhouse snitches Jake Ozio and "Satan."

Ozio was a teenager justifiably scared to death of the Walton County jail; Satan was, unknown to defense counsel and the jurors, a gross sexual pervert, terrified of being so exposed to fellow inmates, and, luckily for him, engaged to the prosecutor's mother. Both Ozio and Satan testified Whitton confessed to them, with inflammatory depictions of the crime and the victim.³ If they were lying, acquittal was imminent. They were. Satan is dead, but after trial he told the truth-he had been told what to say at trial by his then intended step-child, the prosecutor, Adkinson. Whitton had admitted nothing to Satan. Ozio swears now that he never heard Whitton say anything incriminating, but would

¹Whitton told police and the jurors he was with his friend the day of his death, took him to a motel, left him alive, and returned to find him dead. There were no witnesses to a killing. Whitton's explanations were plausible and could not be refuted.

²The trial defense investigator testified below Whitton was offered ten years in prison to plea guilty. V.20,649. Others remembered 25 years. The offer was withdrawn when the state's case was significantly enhanced by Ozio and "Satan." Id.

³Satan testified Whitton said he killed Mr. Maulden because he had gotten the better of him in a fight, and for money. Satan swore he had not received any promises for his testimony. Ozio testified he heard a conversation between Satan and Whitton and Whitton admitted "stabbing the bastard." Ozio testified he volunteered this information to law enforcement and did not receive any benefit. At sentencing, Satan testified Whitton told him he killed the victim so his parole would not be violated.

not testify because he was threatened with perjury.⁴

II. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Argument I. In a criminal prosecution, the State can strike hard blows, but not foul ones. Berger v. United States, 295 U.S. 78 (1935). In Mr. Whitton's case, the prosecution "corrupt[ed] ... the truth-seeking function of the trial process." United States v. Agurs, 427 U.S. 97, 104 (1976). For example, due to the weakness of its case, the prosecution offered a plea bargain for a term of years. But after the State secured the testimony of a jailhouse snitch appropriately called "Satan," and a frightened, jailed, teenager, Jake Ozio, to say Whitton confessed to them, the State's case looked better and a trial ensued. But both Satan and Ozio said later that the prosecutor made them testify and they were lying; the lower court would not hear the testimony about what they say really happened.⁵ The State introduced evidence and arguments that were false or created false impressions, and suppressed material exculpatory evidence, Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83 (1963), in a variety of other ways. For example, the prosecutor and sheriff knew that they had threatened an FDLE agent if she appeared to testify to the truth! She did appear, but with three other armed agents to keep her

⁴Ozio's and Satan's depiction of the corrupt prosecution in this case resonates with how FDLE agents described it below.

⁵The prosecutor did not reveal that Satan was engaged to be married to the prosecutor's mother.

safe. This brazen intimidation of a law enforcement agent was not disclosed. These and a litany of other underhanded actions by the prosecution undermine confidence in the proceedings. *Kyles* v. Whitley, 514 U.S. 419 (1995).

Argument II. Defense counsel in a criminal case must subject the prosecution's case to the crucible of meaningful adversarial testing. United States v. Cronic, 466 U.S. 648, 656 (1984) They failed. Counsel could have shown, inter alia: the victim was virtually asking to be attacked by someone other than Gary Whitton, drunkenly waiving around a wad of cash that could "choke a mule" in broad daylight, looking for a prostitute; the victim had been attached shortly before this offense for engaging in the same drunken conduct, when he was "rolled" by a transvestite prostitute; Gary Whitton's car would have been blood soaked had he committed this crime; the victim's attack did not last 30 minutes (as this Court found) but no more than 5 minutes; and Gary was not in need of cash. Trial counsel's omissions singly, or cumulatively, undermine confidence in the proceeding. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687 (1984).

Argument III: During trial, jurors passed notes back and forth to the judge via a bailiff. These notes were first discovered in a sealed envelope in post-conviction proceedings. Under Florida law, the bailiff is "not to permit any person to communicate with the [jurors] on any subject except with the

4

permission of the court given in open court in the presence of the defendant or the defendant's counsel." Florida Statute 918.07 (2012). Such communication occurred in this case and it did not occur in open court. This is per se reversible error. Furthermore, the lower court erred by not allowing counsel to interview the jurors to find out what had happened, inasmuch as the trial judge and the parties do not remember.

Argument IV: Counsel were prejudicially ineffective at sentencing for failing to conduct a constitutionally adequate penalty phase investigation under prevailing professional norms. *Williams v. Taylor*, 529 U.S. 362, 368-70 (2000). Defense counsel did not go or send anyone to New York State where Gary Whitton was born and raised. The detailed post-conviction evidence from non-family members, family members, teachers, administrators, foster care witnesses and extensive mental health and brain damage evidence provides descriptions and details about the depth of abuse and neglect suffered by Gary Whitton which "far exceeded what the jury was told." *Johnson v. Sec'y, DOC*, 643 F.3d 907, 937(11th Cir. 2011). There is a reasonable probability the result would have been different with such evidence.

Argument V: The cumulative effect of all of the state statutory and federal constitutional violations in this case mandate a new trial.

5

V. ARGUMENT

ARGUMENT I: The Prosecution Was Corrupt⁶

It violates due process for the state not to disclose material exculpatory evidence. *Brady v. Maryland*, 373 U.S. 83 (1963). Exculpatory evidence is material if it undermines confidence in the verdict, regardless of whether "disclosure of the suppressed evidence would have resulted ultimately in the defendant's acquittal." *Kyles*, 514 U.S. at 435. When two or more pieces of favorable evidence are suppressed, materiality "must be considered collectively, not item by item." *Id*.

A. The State's False Testimony

- 1. Satan lied
- a. Concealing his sexual perversion

The state presented the false testimony that Wayne McCollough, aka, Satan, had nothing to gain by saying Whitton had confessed to him. On November 2, 1990, McCollough was arrested for deriving support from prostitution. Ex. 62, SV 1673. He was placed in the county jail, Whitton was there, and Satan testified at trial he first spoke with Gary about the case that November.⁷

⁶Standard of Review: "Brady claims are mixed questions of law and fact. When reviewing Brady claims, this Court applies a mixed standard of review, 'defer[ring] to the factual findings made by the trial court to the extent they are supported by competent, substantial evidence, but review[ing] de novo the application of those facts to the law.'" Johnson v. State, 921 So. 2d 490, 507 (Fla. 2005) (citations omitted).

⁷The defense investigator testified below the defense knew the prosecutor and Sheriff used snitches and the defense warned clients, including Gary, not to speak with anyone about their

He said Gary told him he had gotten into a fight with Maulden, Maulden had beaten him up, and Gary came back later and stabbed him, killed him, and took the money they had earlier withdrawn from Maulden's bank account. R.1640,1643. Satan pled guilty to aiding and abetting prostitution and was released from jail January 3, 1991. He was rearrested for burglary in August 1991. He testified he again discussed the case with Gary in April, 1992, and said Ozio could have overheard them. Satan said Gary said this time "he killed the bastard." R.1645.

George Broxson was in jail and knew Satan before trial. V.20, 3927. Broxson said Satan was charged with "a type of sexual deviant crime" and "didn't want it known" and "therefore, he had made an offer to the state attorney's office and the sheriff had worked out a deal with him somehow." *Id.* 3929. "He stated something to the effect that he would do whatever it took for this crime not to come into the view of the public." *Id.* 3930.

During the post-conviction hearing, corroboration for Broxson's testimony surfaced. A transcript of a tape recording of a police interview with Sheila McCollough, Satan's then-wife, was discovered.⁸ This is what led to Satan's 1990 arrest. She told

case. V. 20, 3844. This should have been introduced at trial.

⁸A subpoena duces tecum was issued for Satan's lawyer's file and a motion to quash was denied. The transcript was in this file. The lower court's statement that "[0]bviously, Defendant's post-conviction counsel were aware of this transcript before the evidentiary hearing, as he submitted it as evidence in support of Defendant's motion" (V. 24, 4701, n.38), is inexplicable. It was submitted as evidence after it was discovered *during* the evidentiary hearing, as was fully explained to the court. V.20,

police she had sex with men for money while Satan also had sex with her, and Satan arranged it. He would go with her to truck stops for her to have sex with men and bring him the money. S.V. 9, 1676. They lived directly off of prostitution. *Id.* She was asked about Satan's "sexual habits" and whether her having sex with men "in his presence, did this happen quite a bit?" She said yes. *Id.* She stated Satan preferred black men and he would make Sheila have sexual intercourse with them at their home and then "he would have oral with her," i.e., "he would want to perform oral on you, not you on him? A. Right. After the black male had had intercourse with you? A. Right." *Id.* When she would have sex with men at the truck stop, he made her not use a condom and when she had had sex with a black man Satan always performed oral sex on her. Clayton Adkinson was the prosecutor of the case against Satan.⁹

3813-3819. It should have been disclosed to defense counsel.

⁹After Sheila's recorded statement, Satan was arrested and put in the County jail. It is reasonable to conclude he did not want men in jail to know his sexual desires. Jails can be sexually violent places. On January 2, 1991, he entered a negotiated plea of no contest to aiding and abetting a person to commit prostitution. SV9, 1691-94. Atkinson was the prosecutor.

The lower court wrote the recorded statement "is hearsay," V.24. 4701, but admitted it into evidence. V.30, 2819. The court also wrote "this Court is unable to surmise a situation in which the details of Mr. McCollough's previous crime would have been explored on the record." *Id.* 4701. Counsel for the State explained: "I think what the defense is trying to suggest is Sheila McCollough gave law enforcement...intimate proclivities of Kenneth McCollough...[which] could be used ..to blackmail Kenneth McCollough to testify in a certain way against Gary Whitton in exchange for non-disclosure of that information, in addition to, I assume, 'We'll give you a sweetheart deal for any pending case b. Concealing his betrothed, the prosecutor's mother

Satan also had an intimate relationship with the prosecutor's mother, Inez Adkinson, which should have been fully revealed by the State and/or discovered by defense counsel. A PSI was prepared--on Satan's burglary charges from 1991 that resulted in his being placed back into Walton County jail--before Satan testified against Whitton. In it, Satan listed "Katie Inez Adkinson" as his "next of kin."¹⁰

On June 11, 1992, Satan, who was in prison for the burglary charges, filed a written request to have his "girlfriend," Inez, visit him in prison. He wrote "we have plans to get married when I get home." Ex. 48 B1. On June 17, 1992, Inez wrote on a visitation form that she had known McCollough for 15 years. She visited Satan on June 25, 1992. *Id.* The trial in this case occurred in July, 1992.¹¹ On November 18, 1992, the prison

you have now and since you helped us out before, we are reducing the felony to a misdemeanor and we're going to have some long standing things with you as an informant.'" V. 20, 3814.

¹⁰The lower court would not consider the PSI: "it would not have been discoverable material" because it was under seal at the time of trial. V20, 3828. Surely the prosecutor had an obligation to let defense counsel (and the jury) know that his star snitch witness was the prosecutor's mother's next of kin!

¹¹The lower court would not consider this evidence but "it's proffered and it will be part of the record." V. 20, 3833.

The lower court also wrote that "[t]he fact that Mr. McCoullough and Ms. Adkinson maintained some sort of relationship was considered by the jury at the time of Defendant's trial," citing to the trial transcript. *Id.* at 4700. The only thing that appears on the cited page is that Ms. Adkinson was a "close personal friend" who visited Satan in jail. And prosecutor Adkinson then defended his mother: "disbelieve his testimony, I approved a visit for Inez, Ex. 48B2 ID, Satan's "girlfriend." She visited seven times before he was released, Ex. 49 ID, and then he moved in with her. Ex. 48.¹²

Kenneth McCollough, Jr., testified Satan was his father and he lived with him for two weeks in 1994. He testified his father was living with Inez Adkinson, the mother of the prosecutor in this case, Clayton Adkinson. He said they lived together as boyfriend and girlfriend. V.18, 3595.

c. Satan confessed to lying at trial

Paula Saunders is a public defender and was assigned Whitton's appeal. She testified her office received a letter from Billy Key "indicating he had met Kenneth Wayne McCollough in prison and McCollough had recanted the testimony that he had given against Whitton at trial." V. 18, 3536; Ex. 45, SV 4, 781-795. "McCollough wants to sign a sworn statement that the State Attorney, Clayton Adkinson, made him a deal to testify to something he knew nothing about, and that Clayton told him everything to say, that [Whitton] did not tell him anything about the crime." He "wanted to retract his testimony."¹³

suppose, because my mother knows him. And what that has to do with this case, I don't know. Mr. Bishop knows it doesn't have anything to do with it either." Tr. at 1996 (emphasis added).

The defense investigator from trial testified he did what the defense attorneys asked him to do and he did not investigate the relationship between Satan and Inez Adkinson. V.20, 3866.

¹²The lower court would not consider this evidence.

¹³The lower court wrote (at first) it would not consider the contents of these letters for their truth, but admitted them on

Saunders made two telephone calls, one to Bill Bishop (trial counsel)and one to Michael Minerva (CCR). Minerva advised her to "get sworn statement from McCollough now...and pin him down as much as possible." *Id.* Her notes and her letter reflect a telephone conversation with Bishop on November 1, 1993, in which she wrote she "will send him copy of the [Key] letter and he will pursue it." In her letter she wrote "it would be a good idea to pursue this information as quickly as possible." *Id.* She spoke with Bishop again on November 19, 1993. Her notes reflect Bishop had spoken with Satan who was concerned with a perjury charge. Also on November 19, Key wrote another letter to Saunders:

Gary's Public Defender, Bill Bishop, showed up here yesterday to talk with Wayne. Mr. Bishop stated that they would probably prosecute him for perjury, and according to Wayne, Mr. Bishop stated that he would help on his prosecution and that he didn't like Wayne anyway. So, with this attitude, needless to say, Wayne wouldn't talk and told me he would only talk to Gary Whitton's ... appellate counsel and an investigator, since the others were from the county he was prosecuted in "Walton County."

Id.¹⁴ Saunders wrote Whitton on December 23, 1993, to advise him of these developments. She recounted the two letters from Key and

the issue of whether counsel were ineffective for not following up on the letter. V. 18, 3546.

¹⁴Bishop testified he did not go and see Satan. V.20, 3968-3970. Saunders made it up? In any event, the lower court used this second letter to deny relief: "Defendant presented evidence at evidentiary hearing that showed Mr. McColllough had refused to recant for fear of facing perjury charges," citing this exhibit. V.24, 4702. Not only had the court previously refused to consider the letter's contents for their truth, see note 13, supra, but also the exhibit does not say Satan refused to recant. He refused to recant to the defense lawyer who threatened to help prosecute him! He asked to speak to Whitton's appellate counsel. "that McCollough is willing to talk only to me" and "I will pursue it." She wrote "I have decided that it would be best to contact McCollough now." However, she did not actually pursue it. She did not try to talk to Satan. V.18, 3541.¹⁵

۲

۲

Key testified. He lives in Fort Walton Beach and has his own business. In 1993 he was in prison and was a law clerk in the prison library. He wrote Ex. 45 to the P.D. Office, and it reflected what had actually happened. V.19, 3759, 3761. Satan came to the prison law library where Key was a law clerk and asked him to find out who Whitton's appellate attorney was because "he wanted to retract his statement of what he testified in court because he didn't know anything about the case." *Id*. 3765. "He told me that he made a deal to testify; that he knew nothing about the case; he said that Clayton told him everything to say and that the above person, Gary, didn't tell him anything about the crime whatsoever." V.19, 3772.¹⁶

¹⁵She did write to Wilmer Adkinson, an inmate Whitton told her about, on March 24, 1994, to ask what he knew about Satan. He wrote back that he would be happy to discuss it with her. Ex. 45. She did not follow up on this either.

¹⁶The state objected to this testimony, counsel for defendant argued that the witness was recounting Satan's statement against penal interest, and the court reserved ruling. Ultimately the lower court ruled it would not consider Key's testimony. V20, 3804. The court erred by not considering this testimony as it reflects a statement against penal interest. After excluding this testimony, the court wrote "Defendant presented no evidence at evidentiary hearing that showed Mr. McCollough ever actually recanted," and cited to page 576 of the transcript. V24, 4702. Page 576 is V. 19, 3766, and the only thing relevant on that page is that Satan never gave a <u>sworn</u> statement recanting. One can recant without swearing.

2. Jake Ozio lied, but the State sealed his lips Jake Ozio also lied. In an affidavit, Ozio swore:

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