RECEIVED, 4/17/2013 20:58:33, Thomas D. Hall, Clerk, Supreme Court

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

GARY RICHARD WHITTON

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. SC11-2083

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

_____/

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE FIRST JUDICIAL CIRCUIT
IN AND FOR WALTON COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

PAMELA JO BONDI ATTORNEY GENERAL

MEREDITH CHARBULA Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0708399

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS PL-01, THE CAPITOL Tallahassee, Florida 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300, Ext. 3583 (850) 487-0997 (Fax)

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

As to Key, his testimony establishes that trial counsel was not ineffective. Key's testimony established that McCollough's alleged desire to recant came well after Whitton's trial was

over. Trial counsel cannot be ineffective for failing to introduce evidence that did not exist at the time of trial.

Johnston v. State, 63 So.3d 730, 744 (Fla. 2011).

Finally as to Broxson and Hanish, the most they could have testified to is that a snitch is someone that inmates usually avoid and that McCollough was thought to be a snitch. Counsel is not ineffective for failing to call Broxson or Hanish at trial.

The only possible relevance to these two witnesses is that because McCullough is a snitch and because inmates know to avoid snitched, Whitton must not have confessed to McCollough. Alternatively, this evidence could be relevant to show that McCollough would make something up to get out of jail free and that McCollough could have learned details about Whitton's case from Whitton's papers and not Whitton.

At trial, trial counsel extensively impeached both Ozio and McCollough. Trial counsel cross-examined Ozio on the crimes for which he was awaiting trial and questioned him about the fact he was aware that he knew he needed to help himself out on his own case. (T Vol. VIII 1618). Trial counsel brought out that Ozio was facing a five year minimum mandatory sentence for carrying a firearm during the course of a burglary of a dwelling. (TR Vol. VIII 1618). Ozio admitted it would help him to help the police. (TR Vol. VIII 1619). Trial counsel also

elicited testimony that Ozio was still pending a plea and sentencing at the time he told law enforcement about Whitton's statements and that, subsequently, the firearm charge was reduced on the firearm charge to eliminate the minimum mandatory requirement. (TR Vol. VIII 1622). Trial counsel also brought out that Ozio was put on probation before trial instead of being sent to prison. (TR Vol. VIII 1625).

Likewise, trial counsel impeached Kenneth McCollough on his prior convictions. (TR Vol. VIII 1647). Trial counsel ensured the jury heard again that McCollough's nickname was "Satan" and that McCollough believed himself to be a jailhouse lawyer. (TR Vol. VIII 1647). Trial counsel also brought out that McCollough did not tell anyone about his conversation with Whitton for quite some time. Trial counsel got McCollough to admit that he was not a law abiding citizen. (TR Vol. VIII 1651).

Trial counsel also questioned McCollough about his relationship with the prosecutor's mother who came and visited McCollough while in jail. (TR Vol. VIII 1650). Trial counsel brought out the fact that her visits and her relationship with the prosecutor was common knowledge and that Whitton knew it too. (TR Vol. VIII 1650).

Trial counsel also pointed out that in his deposition McCollough could not remember Whitton's statement "I stabbed the bastard" yet seemed to remember it later at trial. (TR Vol.

VIII 1652). Trial counsel brought out, before the jury, that McCollough had filed a motion for a modification of his sentence and it was still pending. (TR Vol. VIII 1652). During closing argument, trial counsel argued extensively that both Ozio and McCollough were unworthy of belief. (TR Vol. X 1976-1982).

The record shows that trial counsel attacked both Ozio and McCollough's credibility at trial and extensively argued the pair was unworthy of belief. Trial counsel also offered actual evidence that it was unlikely Whitton would talk to McCollough because Whitton knew that McCollough was seeing the prosecutor's mother. On the other hand, neither Broxson nor Hanish could testify, at the evidentiary hearing, that Whitton knew McCollough was a snitch or did not make the statements McCollough alleged he did. The collateral court's order should be affirmed.

M. Allegation that a new trial is required.

This is not really a sub-claim. This is a cumulative error claim. However, Whitton has failed to show that trial counsel was ineffective. When there is no error, there is not cumulative error. Atwater v. State, 788 So.2d 223, 238 (Fla. 2001) (where no errors occurred, cumulative error claim is without merit) Accordingly, Whitton's claim should be denied.

ISSUE III

WHETHER THE TRIAL JUDGE ERRED IN RESPONDING TO JURORS' NOTES AND WHETHER THE COLLATERAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING WHITTON'S MOTION TO INTERVIEW JURORS

In this claim, Whitton raises two sub-claims. The first sub-claim concerns allegedly "secret" notes between the jurors, the trial court and the bailiff, Tim Campbell. The second sub-claim concerns Whitton's post-conviction motion to interview jurors. Both of Whitton's claims present substantive claims of error rather than claims of ineffective assistance of counsel.

A. The "Notes" issue

Whitton raised this claim in his third amended and supplemented motion for post-conviction relief. (PCR Vol. XII 2254-2261). An evidentiary hearing was granted on the claim. Five juror notes were unsealed during the post-conviction proceedings at Whitton's request. These notes can be found in the post-conviction record at Volume IX, pages 1767-1770.

Note 1: The first note was apparently presented in the penalty phase. The note appears to be from the jurors in which they expressed an objection to a "lady in the audience" who had a tape recorder recording the proceedings. The jury informed the court it objected to the taping because it gave them an uneasy feeling. (PCR Vol. IX 1767).

<u>Note 2</u>: The second note appears to have been written during the penalty phase deliberations. The second note requests a list (copy) of Judge Melvin's instructions.

Note 3: The third note requests the court to instruct the jury as to what would be the soonest Whitton could get out of prison considering gain time, being a model prisoner, etc. The note asked specifically whether 25 years would be the soonest Whitton could get out of prison. (PCR Vol. IX 1768).

<u>Note 4</u>: The fourth note is Judge Melvin's response to the third note. In this note Judge Melvin simply instructs the jury to refer to the jury instructions. (PCR Vol. IX 1769).

Note 5: The fifth note is the only note that came during the guilt phase of Whitton's capital trial. There are two parts to this note: This first part of the note is written by Judge Melvin. It reads: "I understand you may have a question. If so, please write it down and Tim will hand it to me." (PCR Vol. IX 1770). The second part of the note, apparently written by Ms. Keyser, an alternate juror, read: "Mrs. Keyser's feet cannot touch the floor in the jury box which is causing her feet to swell. Could I get a box to prop up my feet?" (TR Vol. VIII 1675).

Although Whitton couches this part of his claim in terms of "secret" notes, the record from Whitton's trial refutes his claim, at least in part. Both the first note and the fifth

notes were clearly not secret at all. Indeed, both were addressed in open court. During the penalty phase of Whitton's capital trial, the jury presented a note to the trial court. The note informed the trial judge that there was a "lady in the audience" who had a tape recorder recording the proceedings. The jury informed the court it objected to the taping because it gave them an uneasy feeling. (PCR Vol. IX 1767). Contrary to Whitton's suggestion that this was a "secret note", the record reflects that Judge Melvin, in open court, with counsel and the defendant present, advised the jury she had "dealt with the situation that you brought to my attention". She also announced that she would "file this note with the clerk." (TR Vol. XI 2152). Whitton made no objection to the trial court's "dealing" with the situation. Nor did counsel request the jurors be interviewed. (TR Vol. XI 2152).

Likewise, the fifth note was not secret at all. Like the first note, the last note reflects that trial counsel was present during this "secret" communication. (TR Vol. VIII 1674). Indeed, during the discussion of the juror's note, trial counsel, Mr. Bishop, noted that "we are all here in the courtroom." (TR Vol. VIII 1674). During the guilt phase of Whitton's capital trial, the trial judge advised the parties that she just got a note that reads, "[s]ome of the jurors want to ask a question. May they write it down?" The trial court

told the parties the note was handed to her by the bailiff. Vol. VIII 1674). The judge suggested that she needed to bring the jury in to tell them they need to write their questions Trial counsel for Mr. Whitton suggested the trial court simply send a message through Mr. Campbell (the bailiff). Counsel observed there was no need to bring the jurors into the courtroom because the parties could observe Tim Campbell, the bailiff, deliver the note. The trial court agreed. VIII 1674-1675). Before sending it into the jury room with Mr. Campbell, the judge read the note, into the record. Her note read: "I understand you may have a question. If so, please write it down and Tim (Mr. Campbell) will hand it to me." Vol. VIII 1675). When the note came back from the jurors, the trial judge read it into the record. It read: "Mrs. Keyser's feet cannot touch the floor in the jury box which is causing her feet to swell. Could I get a box to prop up my feet?" (TR Vol. VIII 1675). The judge directed that Ms. Keyser get something to prop up her feet. (TR Vol. VIII 1675). Trial counsel made no objection to providing Ms. Keyser a box for her feet. (TR Vol. VIII 1675).

The record is silent as to three of the juror notes. The way the trial judge handled these three notes is not in the trial record. However, before penalty phase deliberations, the

trial judge cautioned the jury that they should not ask the bailiff anything. (TR Vol. X 2032).

(1) The evidentiary hearing

The collateral court granted an evidentiary hearing on this claim. Several participants in Whitton's trial testified on this issue.

Judge Laura Melvin testified that she reviewed the juror's notes prior to the evidentiary hearing. She had no independent recollection of the notes. (PCR Vol. XVIII 3523). Judge Melvin testified that her bailiff was excellent. He understood her very firm rule that he was not to answer any questions the jury asked of him. Instead, he was to tell her of any questions and she would respond. If the bailiff came to her and said "Judge, the jurors have a question," she would say, as she did in one note, to write it down. She would then go over the juror's note with the attorneys and the defendant, unless the attorneys waived the defendant's presence. Sometimes the jury would need to be brought back in and sometimes it would be appropriate to handle the question with a return note. (PCR Vol. XVIII 3525). One of the notes that said "Please refer to jury instructions" is the kind of response she would have made. (PCR Vol. XVIII 3526).

Judge Melvin that the only time she might not consult the attorneys about a note is if the jurors ask if they can go to

lunch, complain that it is hot in the courtroom and request the air conditioner be turned up, or ask for a smoke break. Vol. XVIII 3527). Other than that, under no circumstances would she respond to a question without full discussion with the attorneys and the defendant unless the defendant's presence is (PCR Vol. XVIII 3527). If the jury asked a question waived. about the merits of the case, she would not have responded to it without informing the attorneys. (PCR Vol. XVIII 3527). asked about the notes that did not appear anywhere in the record, Judge Melvin explained that it is possible the notes came when the court reporter was not present or available. such a case, she might handle the matter in chambers. She would give the parties the option of waiting to put in on the record. She would allow them to make the call of handing it then or waiting for the court reporter. (PCR Vol. XVIII 3529). got a note from the jury, she would have shared it with the attorneys. (PCR Vol. XVIII 3529).

Trial counsel, William Bishop, remembered a note or notes being sent between the jury to the judge. (PCR Vol. XX 3959). Mr. Bishop specifically remembered the note about the time Whitton would have to spend in prison. (PCR Vol. 3959-3960). He also remembered the situation with the one woman with her feet not reaching the floor. (PCR Vol. XX 3959). Mr. Bishop

testified that he assumes the trial judge made him aware of the notes. (PCR Vol. XX 3959-3960).

Trial counsel, James Tongue testified that he did recall the jury had a question which was submitted to the Judge in writing. He could not recall at the evidentiary hearing what the question was. (PCR Vol. XX 3870). He could not recall when during the trial the note was sent and he only recalls one note. (PCR Vol. XX 3870).

Whitton did not testify at the evidentiary hearing. Accordingly, Whitton presented no evidence that he was not present when the trial court received and responded to each note.

The collateral court rejected this substantive claim. The court found that Whitton failed to demonstrate any of the communications between the trial court and jury were "ex parte." (PCR Vol. XXIV 4692). The collateral court also found the collective testimony of Judge Melvin and both trial counsel demonstrates that no ex parte communications occurred between the trial judge and jury. (PCR Vol. XXIV 4692).

This claim should be denied for two reasons. First, the claim is procedurally barred in these post-conviction proceedings. Since the collateral court found, and the record supports, a conclusion that none of the communications were "exparte," any claim regarding the trial judge's handling of the

notes or response to the various inquires could have been preserved by a contemporaneous objection and then raised on direct appeal. Lebron v. State, 799 So.2d 997, 1017 n.2 (Fla. 2001); Mendoza v. State, 700 So.2d 670 (Fla. 1997). Failure to do so bars the claim in post-conviction proceedings. See generally Troy v. State, 57 So.3d 828, 838 (Fla. 2011).

Second, this claim may be denied because the collateral court found and the record supports that there was no ex parte communications. The record demonstrates unequivocally that notes 1 and 5 were not ex parte because the court discussed them in open court. Additionally, trial counsel testified that he specifically recalled the jury's question about the time Whitton may have to serve in prison before eligible for release. Finally, Judge Melvin's testimony that she would never answer a question that went to the merits of the case without consulting with the attorneys and the defendant, unless the defense attorneys waived the defendant's presence provided competent substantial evidence supporting the collateral conclusion that no ex parte communications about the note occurred. No ex parte communications, no error! This Court should reject his part of Whitton's third claim on appeal.

B. The Juror Interview Issue

Whitton also challenges the collateral court's denial of his motion to interview jurors. In his initial brief, Whitton

claims the standard of review is *de novo*. Whitton is mistaken. The standard of review on a motion to interview jurors is an abuse of discretion. <u>Marshall v. State</u>, 976 So. 1071, 1080 (Fla. 2007).

During post-conviction proceedings, on January 14, 2004, Whitton filed a notice of intent to interview jurors. (PCR Vol. IX 1754-1756). Whitton filed a renewed notice on June 7, 2004. (PCR Vol. X 1830-1831). On June 28, 2004, the State filed a response in opposition to the motion. (PCR Vol. X 1982-1991).

The collateral court denied the motion. The court found that Whitton had offered no compelling reasons why inquiry to or interview of the jurors. (PCR Vol. XIII 2536-2537).

Before this court, Whitton avers that any prohibition on interviewing jurors is unconstitutional. Without elaboration, Whitton claims he is entitled to interview jurors under the "unique" circumstances of this case. (IB 49). This sub-claim should be denied for four reasons.

First, any constitutional attack on Florida's rules that generally prohibit juror interviews is procedurally barred in post-conviction proceedings. Such claims could be, and should be, raised on direct appeal. Failure to do so acts as a procedural bar in post-conviction proceedings. Rose v. State, 774 So.2d 629, 637 n. 12 (Fla. 2000) (holding that the claim "attacking the constitutionality of the Florida Bar Rule of

Professional Conduct governing interviews of jurors [was] procedurally barred because Rose could have raised this issue on direct appeal).

Second, this claim should be denied because it is without merit. This Court has repeatedly rejected claims that rule 4-3.5(d) (4) and Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.575 are unconstitutional. Floyd v. State, 18 So.3d 432, 459 (Fla. 2009).

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